

Federal Financing for the State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)

(name redacted)

Specialist in Health Care Financing

January 17, 2018

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R43949

Summary

The State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) is a means-tested program that provides health coverage to targeted low-income children and pregnant women in families that have annual income above Medicaid eligibility levels but have no health insurance. CHIP is jointly financed by the federal government and the states, and the states are responsible for administering CHIP.

The federal government's share of CHIP expenditures (including both services and administration) is determined by the enhanced federal medical assistance percentage (E-FMAP) rate. Statutorily, the E-FMAP can range from 65% to 85%. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA; P.L. 111-148, as amended) included a provision to increase the E-FMAP rate by 23 percentage points for most CHIP expenditures from FY2016 through FY2019. With this increase, the E-FMAP ranges from 88% to 100%.

The federal appropriation for CHIP is provided in statute. From this federal appropriation, states receive CHIP allotments, which are the federal funds allocated to each state and the territories for the federal share of their CHIP expenditures. In addition, if a state has a shortfall in federal CHIP funding, there are a few sources of shortfall funding, such as the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund, redistribution funds, and Medicaid funds.

In statute, FY2017 was the last year a full-year federal CHIP appropriation was provided, so a law would need to be enacted if federal funding of CHIP were to be continued. Even though federal CHIP funding has expired, states have federal CHIP spending in FY2018 because states have access to unspent funds from their FY2017 allotments and to unspent allotments from FY2016 and prior years redistributed to shortfall states. In addition, the continuing resolutions enacted on December 8, 2017, and December 22, 2017, both include provisions that provide short-term funding for CHIP. The continuing resolution enacted on December 8, 2017, included a special rule for redistribution funds to prioritize the allocation of funds to states estimated to exhaust federal CHIP funds before January 1, 2018. The continuing resolution enacted on December 22, 2017, includes short-term appropriations and an extension of the special rule for redistribution funds through March 2018.

Under current law, the ACA maintenance of effort (MOE) requirement for children is in place through FY2019. The MOE provision requires states to maintain income eligibility levels for CHIP children through September 30, 2019, as a condition for receiving federal Medicaid payments (notwithstanding the lack of corresponding full-year federal CHIP appropriations for FY2018 and FY2019). If additional federal CHIP funding is not provided, the MOE requirement would affect CHIP Medicaid expansion programs and separate CHIP programs differently. States with CHIP Medicaid expansion programs must continue to cover their CHIP children once federal funding is no longer available. However, states with separate CHIP programs would not be required to continue coverage after enrolling eligible children in Medicaid or certified qualified health plans.

Congress's action or inaction will determine the future of CHIP and of health coverage for CHIP children. In considering the future of CHIP, Congress has a number of policy options, including extending federal CHIP funding and continuing the program, or letting CHIP funding expire.

This report provides an overview of CHIP financing, beginning with an explanation of the federal matching rate. It describes various aspects of federal CHIP funding, such as the federal appropriation, state allotments, the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund, redistribution funds, and outreach and enrollment grants. The report ends with a section about the future of CHIP funding, including the options for extending CHIP funding and what could happen if federal funding expires.

Contents

Introduction	
Federal Matching Rate	2
Federal CHIP Funding	
Federal Appropriation	
State Allotments	
Shortfall Funding	9
Child Enrollment Contingency Fund	9
Redistribution Funds	
Medicaid Funds1	
Federal CHIP Funds Finance Some Medicaid Expenditures1	0
Qualifying State Option	0
Stairstep Children	0
Outreach and Enrollment Grants1	1
Future of CHIP Funding1	1
Extending Federal CHIP Funding	
If Federal CHIP Funding Expires14	

Figures

Figure 1. State Distribution of E-FMAP Rate with the 23 Percentage Point Increase	4
Figure 2. CHIP Federal Expenditures and Federal Appropriations	5
Figure 3. CHIP Allotments and Federal Expenditures	8
Figure 4. Federal CHIP Funding for FY2017 and CBO's Baseline for FY2018 and	
Subsequent Years	12

Tables

Table 1.	CHIP Rescission	Amounts by Fund	Source	,
----------	-----------------	-----------------	--------	---

Contacts

uthor Contact Information 15

Introduction

The State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) is a federal-state program that provides health coverage to certain uninsured, low-income children and pregnant women in families that have annual income above Medicaid eligibility levels but do not have health insurance.¹ CHIP is jointly financed by the federal government and the states and is administered by the states. Participation in CHIP is voluntary, and all states, the District of Columbia, and the territories participate.² The federal government sets basic requirements for CHIP, but states have the flexibility to design their own version of CHIP within the federal government's basic framework. As a result, there is significant variation across CHIP programs.

States may design their CHIP programs in one of three ways: a CHIP Medicaid expansion, a separate CHIP program, or a combination approach in which the state operates a CHIP Medicaid expansion and one or more separate CHIP programs concurrently. CHIP benefit coverage and cost-sharing rules depend on program design. CHIP Medicaid expansions must follow the federal Medicaid rules for benefits and cost sharing. For separate CHIP programs, the benefits are permitted to look more like private health insurance, and states may impose cost sharing, such as premiums or enrollment fees, with a maximum allowable amount that is tied to annual family income.

FY2017 was the last year states received a full-year appropriation for CHIP, and FY2018 began on October 1, 2017, without CHIP funding having been extended. In FY2018, states have been funding the federal share of their CHIP programs with unspent funds from their FY2017 allotments and unspent allotments from FY2016 and prior years redistributed to shortfall states. In addition, continuing resolutions enacted on December 8, 2017 (P.L. 115-90), and December 22, 2017 (P.L. 115-96), include provisions that provide short-term funding for CHIP.

On December 8, 2017, a law (P.L. 115-90) was enacted to extend continuing appropriations for federal agencies and programs, and this law includes language that amends the CHIP statute to add a special rule for redistribution funds available through CHIP for the first quarter of FY2018. The special rule prioritizes the allocation of redistribution funds to emergency shortfall states, which were states estimated to exhaust federal CHIP funding before January 1, 2018.

On December 22, 2017, a law (P.L. 115-96) was enacted to extend continuing appropriations for most federal agencies and programs (among other things) through January 19, 2018. Section 3201 of P.L. 115-96 (1) provides \$2.85 billion in appropriations for CHIP for the period of October 1, 2017, through March 31, 2018, and (2) extends the special rule for redistribution funds that was added by P.L. 115-90 for every month through March 2018.

This short-term funding is not sufficient to fund CHIP through the end of FY2018. According to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), the short-term funding should be enough to ensure no states exhaust their federal CHIP funding before January 19, 2018. However, CMS cannot say with any certainty whether the short-term funding is sufficient to fund the federal share of CHIP through March 31, 2018.³

¹ For more information about the State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), see CRS Report R43627, *State Children's Health Insurance Program: An Overview*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted)

² The five territories are American Samoa, Guam, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands.

³ Phil Galewitz, "Running On Empty: CHIP Funding Could Run Out Jan. 19 For Some States," *Kaiser Health News*, January 5, 2018, at https://khn.org/news/running-on-empty-chip-funding-could-run-out-jan-19-for-some-states/; Rachel (continued...)

There are a couple of bills (S. 1827 and H.R. 3922) that would extend federal funding for CHIP for five years. For more information about these bills, see "Extending Federal CHIP Funding."

This report provides an overview of CHIP financing, beginning with an explanation of the federal matching rate. It describes various aspects of federal CHIP funding, such as the federal appropriation, state allotments, the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund, redistribution funds, and outreach and enrollment grants. The report ends with a section about the future of CHIP funding, including the options for extending CHIP funding and what could happen if additional federal funding is not provided.

Federal Matching Rate

The federal government's share of CHIP expenditures (including both services and administration) is determined by the enhanced federal medical assistance percentage (E-FMAP) rate. The E-FMAP rate is based on the FMAP rate, which is the federal matching rate for the Medicaid program. The FMAP formula compares each state's average per capita income with average U.S. per capita income. The formula provides higher reimbursement to states with lower incomes (with a statutory maximum of 83%) and lower reimbursement to states with higher incomes (with a statutory minimum of 50%).⁴

The E-FMAP rate is calculated by reducing the state share under the regular FMAP rate by 30%.⁵ Statutorily, the E-FMAP (or federal matching rate) can range from 65% to 85%.⁶ For some CHIP expenditures, the federal matching rate is different from the E-FMAP rate. For instance, the matching rate for translation and interpretation services is the higher of 75% or states' E-FMAP rate plus 5 percentage points. Also, the Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act (CHIPRA; P.L. 111-3) included a provision that reduced the matching rate to the regular FMAP rate for children with family incomes exceeding 300% of the federal poverty level (FPL) with an exception for certain states.⁷

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA; P.L. 111-148, as amended) included a provision to increase the E-FMAP rate by 23 percentage points (not to exceed 100%) for most CHIP expenditures from FY2016 through FY2019. The 23 percentage point increase does not apply to certain expenditures, such as translation services, CHIP children above 300% of FPL (with an exception for certain states), expenditures for administration of citizenship

^{(...}continued)

Roubein, "Week Ahead: Trump HHS Pick Faces Grilling on Drug Prices, ObamaCare," *The Hill*, January 8, 2018, at http://thehill.com/policy/healthcare/367681-week-ahead-trump-hhs-pick-faces-grilling-on-drug-prices-obamacare.

⁴ For more information about the FMAP rate, see CRS Report R43847, *Medicaid's Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP)*, by (name redacted).

⁵ For example, assume a state has a federal medical assistance percentage (FMAP) rate of 60%, which means the state share is 40%. To determine the enhanced federal medical assistance percentage (E-FMAP) rate for this state, first determine 30% of the state share (i.e., 40%), which is 12%, then subtract 12 percentage points from the state share under Medicaid to get the state share under CHIP, which is 28%. To get the E-FMAP rate, take 100% minus the state share under CHIP to get an E-FMAP rate of 72%.

⁶ §2105(b) of the Social Security Act.

⁷ States that already had a federal approval plan or that had enacted a state law to submit a plan for federal approval on the date of enactment for the Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act (CHIPRA; P.L. 111-3). Two states (New Jersey and New York) plus one county in California fall into these exceptions and receive the E-FMAP rate for CHIP enrollees above 300% of the federal poverty level (FPL). No other state provides CHIP coverage to children over 300% of FPL.

documentation requirements, expenditures for administration of payment error rate measurement (PERM), and Medicaid coverage of certain breast or cervical cancer patients.

This provision increased the statutory range of the E-FMAP rate to between 88% and 100%. In FY2018, 13 states have E-FMAP rates of 100%. **Figure 1** shows the state distribution of E-FMAP rates for FY2018 with the 23 percentage point increase. Because the federal share of CHIP is significantly higher with this increase, states are spending through the federal CHIP funding allocated to them (i.e., state CHIP allotments) faster with the increased E-FMAP rate.



Figure 1. State Distribution of E-FMAP Rate with the 23 Percentage Point Increase

Source: Department of Health and Human Services, "Federal Financial Participation in State Assistance Expenditures; Federal Matching Shares for Medicaid, the Children's Health Insurance Program, and Aid to Needy Aged, Blind, or Disabled Persons for October 1, 2017 Through September 30, 2018," 81 *Federal Register* 80078, November 15, 2016.

Note: E-FMAP = Enhanced federal medical assistance percentage.

Federal CHIP Funding

Federal CHIP funding is mandatory spending (i.e., funding controlled outside of the annual appropriations process through authorizing laws), and this funding is an entitlement to states that adhere to the federal CHIP rules. The funding for this program is provided through a mandatory appropriation set in statute. **Figure 2** shows the federal appropriation amounts and federal expenditures for CHIP from FY1998 through FY2016.



Figure 2. CHIP Federal Expenditures and Federal Appropriations

Sources: §2104 of the Social Security Act, §108 of the Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act (CHIPRA, P.L. 111-3) as amended by §10203(d)(2)(F) of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA; P.L. 111-148, as amended), and §301(b)(3) of the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (MACRA; P.L. 114-10); and Medicaid Financial Management Reports.

Note: Federal CHIP expenditures increased significantly from FY2015 to FY2016 due to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA; P.L. 111-148, as amended) provision that increased the E-FMAP rate (or federal matching rate) by 23 percentage points for most CHIP expenditures from FY2016 through FY2019.

The federal appropriation amount is the maximum amount of federal funding for CHIP. Most of the federal CHIP expenditures are from state CHIP allotments, which are the federal funds allocated to each state to finance its CHIP program. In addition to allotments, states could receive shortfall funding, such as Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments, redistribution funds, or Medicaid funds. Some CHIP funding is used to finance some Medicaid expenses. In addition, states can receive outreach and enrollment grants.

Federal Appropriation

The federal appropriation for CHIP is provided in Section 2104(a) of the Social Security Act. This amount is the overall annual ceiling on federal CHIP spending to the states, the District of Columbia, and the territories. CHIPRA increased the annual appropriation amounts substantially beginning in FY2009 and provided funding through FY2013. The ACA provided funding for an additional two years (i.e., through FY2015), and the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization

Act of 2015 (MACRA; P.L. 114-10) added appropriations for FY2016 and FY2017 at \$19.3 billion and \$20.4 billion,⁸ respectively.⁹ The continuing resolution enacted on December 22, 2017 (P.L. 115-96), provides \$2.85 billion in appropriations for CHIP for the first six months of FY2018 (i.e., October 1, 2017, through March 31, 2018).

If the federal appropriations were not large enough to cover state allotments in any given year, the state allotments would be reduced proportionally. However, **Figure 2** shows the federal appropriation has been more than sufficient to fund federal CHIP expenditures since FY2009.¹⁰ In fact, from FY2011 through FY2017, multiple appropriations laws have rescinded a total of \$42.8 billion in funding from CHIP (see text box entitled "CHIP Changes in Mandatory Programs" for more detail about these rescissions).

CHIP Changes in Mandatory Programs

Changes in mandatory programs (CHIMPs) are provisions in appropriations acts that reduce or constrain mandatory spending. From FY2011 through FY2017, multiple appropriations laws have rescinded a total of \$42.8 billion in funding from CHIP through CHIMPs.

As shown in **Table I**, most of these rescissions have come from the performance bonus payment fund. The Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act (CHIPRA; P.L. 111-3) established performance bonus payments for states that increase their Medicaid (not CHIP) enrollment among low-income children above a defined baseline. States were eligible for performance bonus payments from FY2009 through FY2013. The fund balance for the performance bonus payments increased significantly every year because the transfers into the fund were substantially higher than the actual performance bonus payments to states. From FY2011 through FY2017, a total of \$30.0 billion was rescinded from the performance bonus payment fund.

Funds also have been rescinded from unobligated national allotments, which are federal appropriations funds not allocated for state allotments. In FY2015 through FY2017, a total of \$11.1 billion was rescinded from unobligated national allotments.

In FY2016, funds were rescinded from the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund in the amount of \$1.7 billion. The Child Enrollment Contingency Fund is one potential CHIP shortfall funding source available to states (see the "Child Enrollment Contingency Fund" section).

	(in billions of dollars)							
	FY2011	FY2012	FY2013	FY2014	FY2015	FY2016	FY2017	Total
Performance Bonus Payment Fund	-\$3.5	-\$6.4	-\$6.4	-\$6.3	-\$1.7	\$0.0	-\$5.8	-\$30.0
Unobligated National Allotments	\$0.0	\$0.0	\$0.0	\$0.0	-\$4.5	-\$4.7	-\$1.8	-\$11.1

Table 1. CHIP Rescission Amounts by Fund Source

⁸ The FY2017 appropriation was the combination of two half-year appropriations of \$2.85 billion from \$2104(a) of the Social Security Act plus a one-time appropriation in the amount of \$14.70 billion from \$301(b)(3) of the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (MACRA; P.L. 114-10).

⁹ For more information about the changes enacted under MACRA, see CRS Report R43962, *The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (MACRA; P.L. 114-10)*, coordinated by (name redacted)

¹⁰ From FY2002 through FY2008, the national appropriation amounts were insufficient to cover the full cost of some states' CHIP programs. For FY2002 through FY2005, the amount of redistribution funds from other states was enough to make up the difference. For FY2006 through FY2008, however, additional CHIP appropriations were provided to cover the cost of the federal share of CHIP expenditures.

Child Enrollment Contingency Fund	\$0.0	\$0.0	\$0.0	\$0.0	\$0.0	-\$1.7	\$0.0	-\$1.7
Sources: Defense and F Consolidated and Furthe 76); Continuing Appropr 2015 (P.L. 113-235); Cor 113); Continuing Approp and Zika Response and F (P.L. 114-254); and Cons Note: Totals may not ac	r Continuing iations Resolu- ntinuing Appro- priations and N Preparedness A colidated Appr	Appropriation ition, 2015 (P opriations Act filitary Const Act (P.L. 114- opriations Act	ns Act, 2013 (.L. 113-164); ; 2016 (P.L. 1 ruction, Vete 223); Further	(P.L. 113-6); C Consolidated 14-53); Conso rans Affairs, a Continuing a	Consolidated and Further olidated Appr nd Related A	Appropriation Continuing Ap opriations Ac gencies Appro	ns Act, 2014 (opropriations at, 2016 (P.L. opriations Act	P.L. 113- Act, 114- :, 2017,

State Allotments

State allotments are the federal funds allocated to each state and territory for the federal share of its CHIP expenditures. CHIPRA established a new allocation of federal CHIP funds among the states based largely on states' actual use of and projected need for CHIP funds.¹¹ There are two formulas for determining state allotments: an even-year formula and an odd-year formula.¹²

In even years, such as FY2016, state CHIP allotments are each state's *allotment* for the prior year plus any Child Enrollment Contingency Fund (described below) payments from the previous year adjusted for growth in per capita National Health Expenditures and child population in the state.

In odd years, state CHIP allotments are each state's *spending* for the prior year (including federal CHIP payments from the state CHIP allotment, payments from the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund, and redistribution funds) adjusted using the same growth factor as the even-year formula (i.e., per capita National Health Expenditures growth and child population growth in the state).

Since the odd-year formula is based on states' actual use of CHIP funds, it is called the *re-basing year* because a state's CHIP allotment can either increase or decrease depending on that state's CHIP expenditures in the previous year. **Figure 3** shows how the re-basing for FY2011 significantly decreased the aggregate amount for state allotments from FY2010 to FY2011, and in FY2015, CHIP allotments increased due to state spending in FY2014.

¹¹ Prior to CHIPRA, the territories received 0.25% of the national appropriation amount and the remainder was divided, or allotted, among the states based on a formula using survey estimates of the number of low-income children in each state and the number of those children who were uninsured.

¹² §2104(m) of the Social Security Act.



Figure 3. CHIP Allotments and Federal Expenditures (FY2009 through FY2016)

Sources: Various *Federal Register* notices; Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission (MACPAC), "Federal CHIP Allotments, FYs 2015-2017," MACStats Exhibit 33, posted online May 10, 2017; and the Medicaid Financial Management Reports.

Note: Federal CHIP expenditures increased significantly from FY2015 to FY2016 due to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA; P.L. 111-148, as amended) provision that increased the E-FMAP rate (or federal matching rate) by 23 percentage points for most CHIP expenditures from FY2016 through FY2019. The FY2016 allotments were calculated under a special rule that took into account the 23 percentage point increase in the E-FMAP that begins in that year.

State CHIP allotment funds are available to states for two years, which explains why federal expenditures are higher than the state allotments in some years. The federal CHIP expenditures can include federal funding from states' allotments for the specified year and the prior year in addition to shortfall funding.

The allotment is available to states to cover the federal share of both CHIP benefit and administrative expenditures.¹³ However, no more than 10% of the federal CHIP funds that a state draws down from its CHIP allotment can be spent on nonbenefit expenditures, including expenditures for administration, translation services, and outreach efforts.

MACRA added special rules to the state allotments for FY2016 and FY2018. The special rule for FY2016 established the states' allotments by taking into account the 23 percentage point increase in the E-FMAP that began in that year. Specifically, the FY2016 allotments were each state's FY2015 allotment (including Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments and redistribution funds), determined as if the 23 percentage point increase in the E-FMAP were in place for FY2015. Then, that amount was adjusted using the same growth factor as the even- and odd-year formulas (i.e., growth in per capita National Health Expenditures and child population in the state).

For FY2018, MACRA included a provision that reduced the amount of states' unspent funds from their FY2017 allotments available for expenditures in FY2018 by one-third. Although FY2017 is the last year for which full-year federal CHIP funding is provided under current law, states have federal CHIP spending in FY2018 because states have access to unspent funds from their FY2017 allotments and unspent allotments from FY2016 and prior years redistributed to shortfall states.

¹³ CHIP Medicaid expansion states may use federal Medicaid funds to pay for CHIP administrative expenditures.

Shortfall Funding

If a state's CHIP allotment for the current year, in addition to any allotment funds carried over from the prior year, is insufficient to cover the state's projected CHIP expenditures for the current year, a few different shortfall funding sources are available. These sources include the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund, redistribution funds, and Medicaid funds.

Child Enrollment Contingency Fund

CHIPRA established the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund and made its funds available to states for FY2009 through FY2013. The ACA extended the availability of the Child Enrollment Contingency Fund and of payments from the fund through FY2015, and MACRA extended the fund and payments through FY2017.¹⁴ A state is eligible for Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments if it has both a funding shortfall¹⁵ and CHIP enrollment (for children) that exceeds a target level.¹⁶ As a result, not all states with funding shortfalls are eligible for Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments.

The Child Enrollment Contingency Fund was funded with an initial deposit equal to 20% of the appropriated amount for FY2009 (i.e., \$2.1 billion). In addition, for FY2010 through FY2017, such sums as were necessary for making Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments to eligible states were to be deposited into the fund, but these transfers could not exceed 20% of the federal appropriation for the fiscal year.

The Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payment formula is based on a state's growth in CHIP enrollment and per capita spending, which means a state may receive a payment from the fund that does not equal its actual shortfall. Iowa, Michigan, and Tennessee are the only states that have received Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments over the period of FY2009 through FY2016, when the funds were first available.¹⁷

Redistribution Funds

After two years, any unused state CHIP allotment funds are redistributed to shortfall states.¹⁸ For redistribution funds, a shortfall state is defined as a state that will not have enough money to meet projected costs in the current year after counting (1) the current year's state allotment, (2) unspent funds from the prior year's state allotment, and (3) available Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments. If redistributed funds are insufficient to meet the needs of all shortfall states, each shortfall state receives a proportionate share of the available funds based on the shortfall in each state. From FY2009 through FY2016, Michigan and four territories (Puerto Rico, American

¹⁴ §2104(n) of the Social Security Act.

¹⁵ For Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments, a state has a funding shortfall if a state's current-year CHIP allotment plus any unused CHIP allotment funds from the previous year are insufficient to cover the federal share of the state's CHIP program. The definition of shortfall funding for Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments does not factor in redistribution funds.

¹⁶ The target enrollment level for Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments is the target enrollment level for the previous year increased by the child population growth factor used to calculate the allotment growth factor.

¹⁷ MACPAC, MAC Basics: Federal CHIP Financing, September 2011; Communication with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services in May 2014; Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, *MACStats: Medicaid and CHIP Data Book*, December 2015; Communication with Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) in May 2017.

¹⁸ §2104(f) of the Social Security Act.

Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, and Guam) have received redistribution funds. $^{\rm 19}$

The continuing resolutions enacted on December 8, 2017, and December 22, 2017, both included special rules for redistribution funds. The special rule in the December 8, 2017, continuing resolution prioritizes the allocation of redistribution funds to emergency shortfall states, which were states estimated to exhaust federal CHIP funding before January 1, 2018. The special rule in the December 22, 2017, continuing resolution extends the definition of emergency shortfall states through March 2018.

Medicaid Funds

States that design their CHIP program as a CHIP Medicaid expansion or a combination program and face a shortfall after receiving Child Enrollment Contingency Fund payments and redistribution funds may receive federal Medicaid matching funds to fund the shortfall in the CHIP Medicaid expansion portion of their CHIP program. When Medicaid funds are used to fund CHIP, the state receives the lower regular FMAP rate (i.e., the federal Medicaid matching rate) rather than the higher E-FMAP rate provided for other CHIP expenditures. However, although federal CHIP funding is capped, federal Medicaid funding is open-ended, which means there is no upper limit or cap on the amount of federal Medicaid funds a state may receive.

Federal CHIP Funds Finance Some Medicaid Expenditures

In some situations, such as the *qualifying state* option and the *stairstep children*, federal CHIP funding is used to finance Medicaid expenditures.

Qualifying State Option

Certain states had significantly expanded Medicaid eligibility for children prior to the enactment of CHIP in 1997, and these states are allowed to use their CHIP allotment funds to fund the difference between the Medicaid and CHIP matching rates (i.e., FMAP and E-FMAP rates, respectively) to finance the cost for children in Medicaid above 133% of FPL. This provision is referred to as the *qualifying state* option. FY2015 was the last year for which the qualifying state option was authorized until MACRA extended the qualifying state option through FY2017.

The following 11 states meet the definition of a qualifying state: Connecticut, Hawaii, Maryland, Minnesota, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Rhode Island, Tennessee, Vermont, Washington, and Wisconsin. Although 11 states are eligible for this option, only 6 states (Connecticut, Minnesota, New Hampshire, Vermont, Washington, and Wisconsin) had CHIP expenditures under the qualifying state option in FY2016.²⁰

Stairstep Children

The ACA required states to transition CHIP children aged 6 through 18 in families with annual income less than 133% of FPL to Medicaid, beginning January 1, 2014.²¹ Coverage for such

¹⁹ Communication with CMS in May 2014, June 2016, August 2016, and May 2017; and Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, *MACStats: Medicaid and CHIP Data Book*, December 2015.

²⁰ Medicaid Financial Management Reports.

²¹ The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services granted approval for Pennsylvania to delay the transition of CHIP children aged 6 to 18 in families with income less than 133% of FPL until CY2015.

children continues to be financed with states' CHIP annual allotment funding at the E-FMAP rate as long as their income eligibility is greater than the state's March 31, 1997, Medicaid income standard for children.²² However, the E-FMAP rate is not available for children between the ages of 6 and 18 who have access to private health insurance.

Outreach and Enrollment Grants

CHIPRA established outreach and enrollment grants aimed at reducing the number of children eligible for but not enrolled in Medicaid and CHIP and improving retention so that eligible children stay covered for as long as they are eligible for the programs. CHIPRA provided \$100 million to fund the outreach and enrollment grants for FY2009 through FY2013. The ACA extended the outreach and enrollment grants through FY2015 and provided an additional \$40 million in funding. MACRA extended the outreach and enrollment grants through FY2017 and authorized another \$40 million in funding.

Ten percent of the allocation was to be directed to a national enrollment campaign, and 10% was to be targeted to outreach for American Indian and Alaska Native children. The remaining 80% was to be distributed among state and local governments and to community-based organizations for purposes of conducting outreach campaigns, with a particular focus on rural areas and underserved populations. Grant funds also were targeted at proposals that address cultural and linguistic barriers to enrollment.

Future of CHIP Funding

In considering the future of CHIP, it is helpful to recall why the program was created in 1997: to provide affordable health coverage at a time when there were few other insurance coverage options for low-income children outside of Medicaid. The health insurance market is far different today, with the enactment of the ACA. Now, if CHIP funding is exhausted, current CHIP-eligible children could be eligible for Medicaid or potentially for subsidized coverage in the health insurance exchanges. However, not all CHIP-eligible children would be eligible for these programs, and some could end up being uninsured if CHIP is no longer available.

Congress's action or inaction will determine the future of CHIP and of health coverage for CHIP children. In considering the future of CHIP, Congress has a number of policy options, including extending federal CHIP funding and continuing the program, or letting CHIP funding expire.

Extending Federal CHIP Funding

If Congress decides to extend federal CHIP funding, there are a number of policy options regarding how long to extend funding and whether to make programmatic changes. Funding could be extended for just a few years (e.g., two or four years) or indefinitely, and the extension could maintain, phase down, or eliminate the 23 percentage point increase to the E-FMAP rate (i.e., the federal matching rate for CHIP). (See the textbox "Federal Cost of Extending CHIP Funding" for more information about extending CHIP funding.)

²² Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "Medicaid Program; Eligibility Changes Under the Affordable Care Act of 2010," 77 *Federal Register* 17144, March 23, 2012; Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, *Medicaid and CHIP FAQs: Funding for New Adult Group, Coverage of Former Foster Care Children and CHIP Financing*, December 2013.

Federal Cost of Extending CHIP Funding

The Congressional Budget Office (CBO) is required to assume that mandatory spending programs in existence on or before the enactment of the Balanced Budget Act of 1997 (P.L. 105-33), which would include CHIP, that lack future appropriations and have current-year outlays of at least \$50 million will continue operating as they had been immediately prior to their expiration. This requirement is in the Balanced Budget and Emergency Deficit Control Act of 1985, Section 257(b)(2).

As shown in **Figure 4**, funding for CHIP in FY2017 consisted of two semiannual appropriations of \$2.85 billion amounts that are much smaller than the appropriations in other years. The first semiannual appropriation in FY2017 was supplemented by a one-time appropriation in the amount of \$14.70 billion provided in the first six months of FY2017 that remained available until expended. To calculate the CHIP program levels that would continue in the baseline pursuant to these scorekeeping rules, CBO annualized the \$2.85 billion provided for the allotment for the last six months of its authorization for the remainder of the baseline period. CBO did not include the other amounts provided to CHIP for the earlier part of FY2017 because these were not available immediately before the program expired at the end of the fiscal year. For this reason, CBO's baseline for CHIP includes \$5.7 billion in federal CHIP funding for each year after FY2017.

Figure 4. Federal CHIP Funding for FY2017 and CBO's Baseline for FY2018 and Subsequent Years

FY2017 Funding	
First Six Months	62.01
Semiannual Appropriation	\$2.85
One-time Appropriation	14.70
Second Six Months	
Semiannual Appropriation	\$2.85
One-time Appropriation	+0.0
TOTAL	\$20.40
CBO Baseline for FY2018 and Subsequ	ient yeai
FY2017 Funding for the Second Six Months	\$2.85
FY2017 Funding for the Second Six Months Annualized	\$2.85 x2
5	

(in billions of dollars)

Source: Congressional Research Service based on the Congressional Budget Office (CBO), Detail of Spending and Enrollment for the Children's Health Insurance Program-CBO's January 2017 Baseline, January 2017.

Notes: The \$5.7 billion from the CBO baseline is for budget authority. Estimated outlays for FY2018 are more than \$5.7 billion due to the availability of prior-year funds. CHIP = State Children's Health Insurance Program. CBO = Congressional Budget Office.

Because the baseline projections assume \$5.7 billion in federal CHIP spending for FY2018 and subsequent years within the budget window, CBO's estimated cost of extending federal CHIP funding is lower than it would have been without this assumption. In addition, the federal costs of extending CHIP funding would be offset by reductions in federal spending for Medicaid and subsidized exchange coverage because some CHIP children would receive Medicaid coverage or subsidized exchange coverage if CHIP were to expire.

There are a couple of bills that would extend federal funding for CHIP for five years. On October 4, 2017, both the Senate Finance Committee and the House Energy and Commerce Committee

had markups on different bills that would extend CHIP federal funding through FY2022, among other things.²³

The Senate Finance Committee reported the Keeping Kids' Insurance Dependable and Secure Act of 2017 (KIDS Act; S. 1827), which would extend federal CHIP funding through FY2022 and extend the increased E-FMAP rates for one year (i.e., through FY2020) but with an 11.5 percentage point increase instead of a 23 percentage point increase under current law. The bill also includes extensions of other CHIP provisions (e.g., the Express Lane eligibility option and the maintenance of effort [MOE] requirement for children in families with incomes below 300% of FPL) and other programs and demonstrations (e.g., the Child Obesity Demonstration Project and the Pediatric Quality Measures Program).

According to the CBO and the Joint Committee on Taxation (JCT) cost estimate released on October 20, 2017, the KIDS Act is estimated to increase federal spending by \$14.9 billion and revenues by \$6.7 billion for a net cost of \$8.2 billion over the period of FY2018 through FY2027.²⁴ On January 5, 2018, CBO and JCT updated the cost estimate for the KIDS Act to account for the repeal of penalties for the individual health insurance mandate that was included in P.L. 115-97, enacted on December 22, 2017. According to the cost estimate released on January 5, 2018, the KIDS Act is estimated to increase federal spending by \$7.3 billion and revenues by \$6.6 billion for a net cost of \$0.8 billion over the period of FY2018 through FY2027.²⁵

The House Energy and Commerce Committee reported the Helping Ensure Access for Little Ones, Toddlers, and Hopeful Youth by Keeping Insurance Delivery Stable Act of 2017 (HEALTHY KIDS Act; H.R. 3921),²⁶ which includes almost identical language to the KIDS Act that would extend CHIP federal funding through FY2022 and extend the increased E-FMAP for one year at 11.5 percentage points. The HEALTHY KIDS Act also includes almost identical language that would extend the same CHIP provisions and other programs and demonstrations as the KIDS Act. In addition, the HEALTHY KIDS Act includes some provisions that are not in the KIDS Act, such as adding a new CHIP state option for qualified CHIP look-alike plans, modifying the Medicaid disproportionate share hospital (DSH) allotment reductions, and providing additional Medicaid funding to Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The HEALTHY KIDS Act includes the following provisions as offsets: modifications to Medicaid third-party liability, treatment of lottery winnings for Medicaid eligibility, and Medicare Part B and D premium subsidies for higher-income individuals.

The HEALTHY KIDS Act, under Division B of the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act, includes some changes to the provisions from the HEALTHY KIDS Act as reported by the House

²³ See CRS Report R44989, *Comparison of the Bills to Extend State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Funding*, coordinated by (name redacted) for a comparison of the provisions in the KIDS Act and Division B of the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act as baselined against current law.

²⁴ Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the Joint Committee on Taxation (JCT), *Cost Estimate:* S. 1827 *Keep Kids' Insurance Dependable and Secure Act of 2017*, October 20, 2017, at https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/costestimate/s1827.pdf.

²⁵ CBO and JCT, *Updated Cost Estimate for* S. 1827, *the Keep Kids' Insurance Dependable and Secure Act of 2017*, January 5, 2018, at https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/costestimate/s1827_0.pdf.

²⁶ The Helping Ensure Access for Little Ones, Toddlers, and Hopeful Youth by Keeping Insurance Delivery Stable Act of 2017 (HEALTHY KIDS Act, H.R. 3921) was introduced on October 3, 2017. At the House Energy and Commerce Committee markup October 4, 2017, the following amendments that were adopted with a voice vote are available at "PR-MEDCD-RSA_02" (at http://docs.house.gov/meetings/IF/IF14/20171004/106486/BILLS-115-3921-B001257-Amdt-123.pdf) and "LUJAN_068" (at http://docs.house.gov/meetings/IF/IF14/20171004/106486/BILLS-115-3921-L000570-Amdt-114.pdf). The committee report is H.Rept. 115-358.

Energy and Commerce Committee. The CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act amended the provision extending the outreach and enrollment program, the Medicaid DSH provision, and the Medicaid third-party liability provision. In addition, the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act, released on October 30, 2017, deleted the Medicare Parts B and D premium subsidies for higher-income individuals provision, but this provision was added back into the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act through an amendment adopted by the House Rules Committee on November 1, 2017.²⁷ According to the CBO and JCT cost estimate for the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act language posted on the House Rules Committee website on October 30, 2017,²⁸ the HEALTHY KIDS Act under Division B is estimated to increase federal spending by \$11.4 billion and revenues by \$6.7 billion for a net cost of \$4.7 billion over the period of FY2018 through FY2027.²⁹ The House passed the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act on November 3, 2017, by a vote of 242 to 174.

If Federal CHIP Funding Expires

If additional federal CHIP funding is not provided, the loss of funding and the ACA MOE requirements would affect states' CHIP programs differently depending on whether the program is a CHIP Medicaid expansion or a separate CHIP program.

The CHIP enrollees in CHIP Medicaid expansion programs (almost 60% of CHIP enrollees)³⁰ likely would continue to receive coverage through their state's Medicaid program due to the ACA MOE requirement, which requires states to maintain income eligibility levels for CHIP children through September 30, 2019, as a condition for receiving any Medicaid funding (notwithstanding the lack of corresponding full-year federal CHIP appropriations for FY2018 and FY2019).³¹ This switch would cause the federal share of expenditures to decrease from the E-FMAP rate to the regular FMAP rate, which means the cost of covering these children would increase for states.

For the CHIP enrollees in separate CHIP programs (roughly 40% of CHIP enrollees),³² if CHIP funding expires, states would have to enroll eligible children in Medicaid or certified qualified health plans in the health insurance exchanges. A certified qualified health plan is a qualified health plan that has been certified by the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) to be "at least comparable" to CHIP in terms of benefits and cost sharing. The HHS Secretary was required by statute to review the benefits and cost sharing for children under qualified health

²⁷ The amendment adopted by the House Rules Committee on November 1, 2017 is at https://rules.house.gov/bill/115/ hr-3922.

²⁸ The cost estimate for the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act does not include Medicare Part B and D premium subsidies for higher-income individuals. However, this provision was included in the cost estimate of the HEALTHY KIDS Act as reported by the House Energy and Commerce Committee (https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/costestimate/hr3921rev.pdf).

²⁹ The full cost estimate for the CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act shows the bill (including both Divisions A and B) is estimated to increase federal spending by \$19.4 billion and increase revenue by \$4.7 billion for a net cost of \$14.7 billion. (CBO and JCT, *Estimate of the Direct Spending and Revenue Effects of* H.R. 3922 *The CHAMPIONING HEALTHY KIDS Act, an Amendment in the Nature of a Substitute [Version* H.R. 3922 *FLR-AINS_06.XML], as Posted on the Website of the House Committee on Rules October 30, 2017*, October 31, 2017, at https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/costestimate/hr3922amendment.pdf).

³⁰ MACPAC, MACStats, Exhibit 31. Child Enrollment in CHIP and Medicaid by state, FY2016, as posted on MACPAC's website as of July 10, 2017.

³¹ For more information about the ACA MOE requirement, see CRS Report R43909, *CHIP and the ACA Maintenance of Effort (MOE) Requirement: In Brief*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted)

³² MACPAC, MACStats, Exhibit 31. Child Enrollment in CHIP and Medicaid by state, FY2016, as posted on MACPAC's website as of July 10, 2017.

plans in the exchanges and certify those plans that offer benefits and cost sharing that are at least comparable to CHIP coverage.³³ In the review released November 25, 2015, the HHS Secretary was not able to certify any qualified health plans as comparable to CHIP coverage because out-of-pocket costs were higher under the qualified health plans and the CHIP benefits were generally more comprehensive for child-specific services (e.g., dental, vision, and habilitation services).³⁴ States with separate CHIP programs would not be required to continue coverage after enrolling eligible children in Medicaid or certified qualified health plans.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Specialist in Health Care Financing [edacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

³³ §2105(d)(3)(C) of the Social Security Act.

³⁴ The Department of Health and Human Services reviewed the second-lowest-cost silver plan in the largest rating area in each state to compare it to CHIP in that state. (CMS, *Certification of Comparability of Pediatric Coverage Offered by Qualified Health Plans*, November 25, 2015.)

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.